IN THE IOWA SUPREME COURT

NO. 15-2126

---

DENNIS WORKMAN,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

vs.

GARY WORKMAN, INDIVIDUALLY AND AS EXECUTOR OF THE  
ESTATE OF MARGARET E. WORKMAN, and LAVERNE WORKMAN,  
CYNTHIA NOGGLE, RANDY NOGGLE, MINDY (NOGGLE)  
SHERWOOD, CHRISTINE (WORKMAN) THOMPSON AND JEFFREY  
WORKMAN.

Defendant/Appellee.

---

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
HON. JUDGE JOHN D. TELLEEN  
SCOTT COUNTY PROBATE NUMBER ESPR074050

---

**PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF**

**REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT**

---

Eric M. Updegraff AT0008025  
HOPKINS & HUEBNER, P.C.  
2700 Grand Avenue, Suite 111  
Des Moines, IA 50312  
Telephone: (515) 244-0111  
Fax: (515) 244-8935

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

**ISSUE I: THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING IN ITS SUMMARY JUDGMENT RULING THAT THE BURDEN OF PROOF DID NOT SHIFT TO GARY WORKMAN AS A RESULT OF A CONFIDENTIAL RELATIONSHIP AND UNDUE INFLUENCE**

*Ayers v. Shaffer*, 748 S.E.2d 83 (Vir. 2013)

*Cresto v. Cresto*, 358 P.3d 831, 833-834 (Kansas 2015)

*Eckstein v. Estate of Dunn*, 816 A.2d 494 (Ver. 2002)

*Heck v. Archer*, 927 F.2d 495, 499-500 (Kansas App. 1996)

*Howard v. Nasser*, 613 S.E.2d 64 (S.C. 2005)

*In re Aldrich's Estate*, 3 So.2d 856 (Florida 1941)

*In re Estate of Bethurem*, 313 P.3d 237 (Nev. 2013)

*In re Estate of Holcomb*, 63 P.3d 9 (Okla. 2002)

*In re Estate Luongo*, 823 A.2d 942 (Penn. 2003)

*In re Estate of Novak*, 458 N.W.2d 221 (Neb. 1990)

*In re Estate of Stockdale*, 953 A.2d 454, 470 (N.J. 2008)

*In re Fechter's Estate*, 277 N.W.2d 143 (Wis. 1979)

*In re Last Will and Testament of Melson*, 711 A.2d 78  
(Del. Sup. 1998)

*In re Lobb's Will*, 145 P.2d 808 (Oregon 1944)

*In re Moses' Will*, 227 So.2d 829 (Miss. 1969)

*In the Will of Faulks*, 17 N.W.2d 423, 440 (Wis. 1945)

*Kelley v. Johns*, 96 S.W.2d 189 (Tenn. App. 2002)

*Matter of Estate of Gersbach*, 960 P.2d 811 (New Mexico 1998)

*Matter of Estate of Todd*, 585 N.W.2d 273, 277 (Iowa 1998)

*Matter of Estate of Bayer*, 574 N.W.2d 667 (Iowa 1998)

*Peak v. Adams*, 799 N.W.2d 535 (Iowa 2011)

79 Am.Jur.2d *Wills* § 428

79 Am.Jur.2d *Wills* § 394 (2016)

**ISSUE II: THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DENYING A  
MOTION TO AMEND THE PLEADINGS TO CONFORM  
WITH THE EVIDENCE**

*Barnhouse v. Hawkeye State Bank*, 406 N.W.2d 181, 187 (Iowa 1987)

*Holliday v. Rain & Hail L.L.C.*, 690 N.W.2d 59 (Iowa 2004)

*Rife v. D.T. Corner, Inc.*, 641 N.W.2d 761 (Iowa 2002)

*Swartzenruber v. Lamb*, 582 N.W.2d 171 (Iowa 1998)

## **ROUTING STATEMENT**

The Appellant believes that this case involves issues of first impression and issues of substantial importance so that the Iowa Supreme Court should retain jurisdiction. I.R.A.P. 6.1101(2)(c) & (d).

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Plaintiff filed a petition alleging that the Will offered into probate in this matter was invalid based on: (1) lack of testamentary capacity; (2) undue influence; and (3) confidential relationship. (Petition and Jury Demand dated January 25, 2013, App. 1).

On July 9, 2014, the Defendant moved for summary judgment on all three theories. (Motion for Summary Judgment dated July 9, 2014, App. 38).

On March 12, 2015, the District Court entered a ruling granting in part and denying in part the motion for summary judgment. (Order on Motion for Summary Judgment dated March 12, 2015, App. 797). The District Court determined that summary judgment was appropriate on the issues of testamentary capacity and confidential relationship. (Order on Motion for Summary Judgment dated March 12, 2015, App. 797).

The case then proceeded to jury trial on the issue of undue influence. (Trial Transcript 1, App. 245). The jury returned a verdict determining that

the Defendant did not exercise undue influence over the testatrix. (Civil Verdict Form 1 and Civil Verdict Form 2 entered November 19, 2015, App. 809.

The Plaintiff filed a timely notice of appeal. (Notice of Appeal, App. 807)

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

The crux of this case centers on the relationship between the various family members. LaVerne and Margaret Workman had 3 children. (Trial Transcript p. 23-24, App. 267-268). Dennis is the oldest child. (Trial Transcript p. 23, App. 267). Gary is the second son. (Trial Transcript p. 24, App. 268). The elder Workmans adopted their sister Cindy when she was approximately five years old. (Trial Transcript p. 24, App. 268).

Dennis Workman was born and raised on a farm. (Trial Transcript p. 22, App. 266). He graduated from Durant High School in 1965. (Trial Transcript p. 22, App. 266). After high school he attended Muscatine Community College, majored in agriculture, and graduated with a degree in the same in 1967. (Trial Transcript p. 22, App. 266). After community college, Dennis went to the Institute of Broadcast Arts and received a diploma. (Trial Transcript p. 22, App. 266). He then attended St. Ambrose University before transferring to University of California Berkley. (Trial



Transcript p. 22, App. 266). He received his Bachelor's Degree from UC-Berkley. (Trial Transcript p. 22-23, App. 266-267). After graduating Dennis took a job as an announcer on a radio station in Ventura California. (Trial Transcript p. 23, App. 267). Later, Dennis acquired a teaching certificate and taught school. (Trial Transcript p. 23, App. 267).

The dispute among the family members concerns certain tracks of farm land in Eastern Iowa. LaVerne Workman inherited one-third of a family farm. (Trial Transcript p. 23-24, App. 267-268). Eventually, LaVerne ended up with the entire interest in that family farm. (Trial Transcript p. 25-26, App. 269-270). At some point LaVerne exchanged that farm in a 1031 exchange for farm ground closer to Margaret's farm ground. (Trial Transcript p. 26, App. 270).

As most family disputes go, the relationship between the family members was pretty good in the beginning. Dennis testified that he and Gary Workman had a pretty good childhood. (Trial Transcript p. 25, App. 269). As they grew up they both ended up in California. (Trial Transcript p. 25, App. 269). During that time LaVerne was farming the two farms by himself or renting out the ground. (Trial Transcript p. 25, App. 269).

In 1981, Gary decided to return to Iowa to farm with his father. (Trial Transcript p. 27, App. 271). The decision surprised Dennis because he did

not think that Gary was interested in moving back home. (Trial Transcript p. 27, App. 271). Gary explained to Dennis that their parents had made Gary an offer he could not refuse. (Trial Transcript p. 27, App. 271).

In the 1980s Dennis had some financial difficulties. (Trial Transcript p. 27, App. 271). He purchased a radio station in Denver, Colorado. (Trial Transcript p. 27, App. 271). When he purchased the radio station he did so with the understanding that it could convert from a day time station to a full-time radio station. (Trial Transcript p. 27-28, App. 271-272). It turned out that the radio station's facilities could not handle such a concept. (Trial Transcript p. 28, App. 272). At the same time the previous owner changed the station's format making it less desirable to advertisers. (Trial Transcript p. 28, App. 272). As a result of these various problems Dennis wound up declaring bankruptcy. (Trial Transcript p. 28, App. 272). He first tried a Chapter 11 bankruptcy, but ended up with a Chapter 7 bankruptcy. (Trial Transcript p. 28, App. 272). Additionally, Dennis ended up with a \$1.1 million judgment against him. (Trial Transcript p. 30, App. 274).

These difficulties resulted in creditors contacting Dennis's parents in an attempt to collect the debts. (Trial Transcript p. 30, App. 274). Consequently, LaVerne and Margaret had to hire an attorney to deal with those creditors. (Trial Transcript p. 31, App. 275).

In 1986, Dennis moved back to the farm. (Trial Transcript p. 31, App. 275). He stayed there from 1986 through 1989. (Trial Transcript p. 31-32, App. 275-276). At that time Dennis expressed his interest in farming the family farm. (Trial Transcript p. 31-32, App. 275-276). However, Gary was not interested in Dennis farming the family farm with him. (Trial Transcript p. 31-32, App. 275-276). Dennis's next move was to start a convenience store in Clinton that he ran for about a year and a half. (Trial Transcript p. 32, App. 276).

The testimony at trial reveals that over the years Dennis tried to come back to Iowa and get into family farming a dozen times or more. (Trial Transcript p. 32, App. 276). Dennis testified that LaVerne and Gary did want Dennis to come back to the family farm but that his mother was in favor of it. (Trial Transcript p. 32, App. 276). Dennis explained that Margaret would call him up and she would be crying when discussing him coming back to the farm. (Trial Transcript p. 32, App. 276).

It is Dennis's opinion that his mother wanted him to return to the farm and felt coerced by Gary and LaVerne because they did not want him to return. (Trial Transcript p. 32, App. 276). Dennis explained that he would call his mother and ask her if he could return to the farm. (Trial Transcript p. 32, App. 276). She would tell him that she would talk to Gary and

LaVerne. (Trial Transcript p. 32, App. 276). Margaret would then call him back several days later and explain that Gary and LaVerne had nixed him returning to the farm. (Trial Transcript p. 32, App. 276).

Dennis also had numerous discussions with his mother about her desires for her property. (Trial Transcript p. 36, App. 280). These conversations started in the 1980s and continued through the 1990s. (Trial Transcript p. 36, App. 280). It was Margaret's wish that everyone be treated fairly. (Trial Transcript p. 37, App. 281). Originally, Margaret explained to Dennis that it was her desire that Dennis get her farm, the south farm, and that Gary get their father's farm, the north farm. (Trial Transcript p. 37, App. 281).

Thus, began a continuous deterioration of Dennis and Cindy's share of the assets in favor of Gary Workman. (Exhibits 1-10, App. 815-865).

In the first Will in evidence Margaret Workman set out a scheme as follows:

1. Her husband would receive all her personal property and a life estate in their homestead;
2. If her husband failed to survive her then the homestead would go to Dennis, Gary and Cynthia in equal shares;
3. If her husband failed to survive her then her personal property would

be divided equally amongst the three children;

4. If her husband survived her then she bequeathed her 200 farm to her husband, Dennis and Gary to be theirs absolutely in fee simply in the following proportion shares:
  - a. LaVerne gets 40 acres;
  - b. Gary gets the north 80 acres;
  - c. Dennis gets the south 80 acres.

(Trial Exhibit 1, App. 815).

In a codicil to this 1983 Will Margaret Workman amended the bequest to Dennis and instead bequeathed his portion of the farm to a spendthrift trust for the benefit of Dennis. (Trial Exhibit 2, App. 818). The trust's terms allowed for a release of the property to Dennis at the trustee's discretion. (Trial Exhibit 2, App. 818).

In 1987 Margaret put together a second Will. (Trial Exhibit 3, App. 820). In this Will the bequest of the homestead shifted from Cynthia to Gary. (Trial Exhibit 3, App. 820). Instead Cynthia would have received approximately \$25,000 in cash. (Trial Exhibit 3, App. 820). Each of the children would receive 1/3 of the residue of the estate. (Trial Exhibit 3, App. 820). The farm would have been split up as follows: (1) Gary gets the south 80 (as opposed to the north 80); (2) the north 80 acres goes to a

spendthrift trust for Dennis; and (3) the remaining 40 acres would have gone to Gary's children Jeffrey and Christine Workman. (Trial Exhibit 3, App. 820).

In 1995 Margaret put together another Will. In this Will the property is divided even more favorably to Gary Workman. (Trial Exhibit 4, App. 825). The major changes concern the farm ground. (Trial Exhibit 4, App. 825). In this Will the farm bequests work as follows: (1) Gary gets the south 80 acres; (2) Gary gets the north 80 acres as remainder man to a life estate for the benefit of the Workman Family Trust; and (3) Gary's children Jeffrey and Christine get the remaining 40 acres. (Trial Exhibit 4, App. 825). The Workman Family Trust would have been a limited trust for the benefit of Dennis wherein Gary and a Bank would have discretion to distribute income and principal to Dennis. (Trial Exhibit 4, App. 825). After Dennis passed away then Gary would receive 75% of the funds in the trust and Cynthia would receive 25%. (Trial Exhibit 4, App. 825).

In 1999 Margaret put together another Will. (Trial Exhibit 5, App. 833). In this Will she bequeathed cash to: (1) Gloria Dei Lutheran Church \$1,000; (2) Cynthia \$25,000; (3) Grandson Randy Noggle \$10,000; (4) Mindy Noggle \$10,000. (Trial Exhibit 5, App. 833). In terms of the homestead she granted a life estate in it to her husband LaVerne and then a

life estate to Dennis. (Trial Exhibit 5, App. 833). If Dennis does not occupy the homestead then:

1. Marcia T. Turner gets 50% if she is Dennis's spouse or is cohabitating with him at the cessation of the life estate; OR Each of the following get 20% of the 50%: (1) Cynthia Noggle; (2) Randy Noggle; (3) Mindy Noggle; (4) Jeffrey Workman; and (5) Christine Workman. (Trial Exhibit 5, App. 833)
2. The children of Dennis Workman get 50%; OR Each of the following get 20% of the 50%: (1) Cynthia Noggle; (2) Randy Noggle; (3) Mindy Noggle; (4) Jeffrey Workman; and (5) Christine Workman. (Trial Exhibit 5, App. 833)

Additionally, Gary is given the option to purchase the homestead at fair market value at the cessation of the life estates. (Trial Exhibit 5, App. 833)

The 1999 Will marks the beginning of what appear to be equalization payments in lieu of giving Dennis (or a trust on Dennis's behalf) any interest in the farm ground. (Trial Exhibit 5, App. 833) The terms concerning the farm are as follows:

1. Gary receives both the north 80 acres and south 80 acres subject to an obligation to put \$80,000 into a Family Trust. (Trial Exhibit 5, App. 833); The \$80,000 is to be paid in \$10,000 increments on a yearly

basis until it is paid off. (Trial Exhibit 5, App. 833)

2. Gary's children Jeffrey and Christine receive the remaining 40 acres.

(Trial Exhibit 5, App. 833)

The Family Trust, funded by these \$10,000 a year payments, was a spendthrift trust for the benefit of Dennis. (Trial Exhibit 5, App. 833). The Will also contains a provision setting out that Gary's share, should he not survive Margaret, would be shared equally by his children. (Trial Exhibit 5, App. 833). This Will also contains a statement that "It may appear that I have provided more generously for my son, Gary, than my other two children, but in part it is in repayment for work and improvements he has done on our farmlands. In addition, I have made gifts to my children during my lifetime." (Trial Exhibit 5, App. 833). The documents purports that Margaret executed it on March 15, 1999. (Trial Exhibit 5, App. 833).

The evidence demonstrates that Gary Workman had been attending meetings with LaVerne and Margaret about estate planning just prior to this Will. (Trial Exhibit 17, App. 868). In a letter dated October 23, 1998, Joan U. Axel, an attorney with Stanley, Lande & Hunter, wrote a letter to Mr. and Mrs. LaVerne E. Workman. (Trial Exhibit 17, App. 868). Ms. Axel began her letter "After our meeting last week, we reviewed some of the many issues you and Gary presented." (Trial Exhibit 17, App. 868). In that letter



Ms. Axel set out the three primary goals as:

- (1) Transfer LaVerne's farm to Gary now and completely.
- (2) Honor Gary's wishes to have no dealing with Dennis regarding property now or after your deaths.
- (3) Treat Dennis as fairly as possible.

(Trial Exhibit 17, App. 868).

The letter then recommends that "the best way to achieve your goals for Gary and to treat Dennis as fairly as possible would be to set aside to Dennis non-farm assets." (Trial Exhibit 17, App. 868) The letter then requests that they "Please talk this over with Gary and see which way will work best for all concerned." (Trial Exhibit 17, App. 868)

On November 6, 1998, Ms. Axel wrote a letter following up on a telephone conference dated October 29, 1998. (Trial Exhibit 18, App. 871). The document explained that LaVerne and Margaret were planning two real estate transfers and a lease. (Trial Exhibit 18, App. 871). In particular the letter demonstrates:

1. Gary would get LaVerne's Scott County farm subject to an interest in LaVerne for his life. LaVerne will have all the net income from the farm during his lifetime.
2. Transferring Gary's one-half interest in the Durant duplex to LaVerne.

LaVerne will then dispose of this property in his will.

3. Entering into a written farm lease between Gary and LaVerne for a 5-year renewable term.

(Trial Exhibit 18, App. 871)

The letter explains: “We are very happy to work with you, as you know. However, on reflection, we wonder if you would like Lowell Dendinger to complete your plan? He will want to know about these changes.” (Trial Exhibit 18, App. 871). The letter concludes: “We have the appointment saved we scheduled: November 12, 1998, at 9:00 a.m. in the Wilton office. Gary and his wife would need to be present or stop in in advance to sign the Durant duplex deed if you move forward with this plan.” (Trial Exhibit 18, App. 871).

In 2001, Margaret Workman apparently executed yet another Will. (Trial Exhibit 6, App. 841). Stanley, Lande & Hunter, the same firm representing Gary Workman in this Will contest, prepared the Will. (Trial Exhibit 6, App. 841). In the 2001 Will the bequests remain mostly the same as in the 1999 Will. (Trial Exhibit 6, App. 841). The Will bequeaths the homestead to LaVerne for his life and then to the Workman Family Trust of 1991, subject to Gary’s right to purchase the homestead after his father’s death. (Trial Exhibit 6, App. 841). In terms of the farm ground, the Will

gives LaVerne a life estate in the 160 acres with Gary as the remainder man. (Trial Exhibit 6, App. 841). The 2001 Will then provides for \$100,000 in equalization payments to be made \$10,000 per year to the Workman Family Trust. (Trial Exhibit 6, App. 841). Gary may seek a reduction in the total amount of these payments if he pays for an independent appraiser to determine the value of the farmland has decreased by 1/3 or more. (Trial Exhibit 6, App. 841). There are no provisions for an increase in the total value of these payments if the value of the farmland has increased. (Trial Exhibit 6, App. 841). If Gary does not survive Margaret then his interest passes to his children subject to the obligation to make the \$10,000 per year payments. (Trial Exhibit 6, App. 841). The will then gives the remaining 40 acres to Gary's children Christine and Jeffrey. (Trial Exhibit 6, App. 841).

The 2001 Will also includes the statement:

My husband and I wish to formally acknowledge that we recognize and understand that the cumulative effect of our wills and The Workman Family Trust will be to give our son, Gary, a disproportionately large share of our combined assets. We have intentionally and knowingly made these provisions understanding that Gary will receive more of our combined estates than our other two children. We have done this to recognize the many years of contribution and effort made by Gary, which has benefited us over the years that he has lived near us. The statement I am making in this paragraph is merely precatory and intended to express my intent.

(Trial Exhibit 6, App. 841).

Margaret then executed a couple of codicils to this will.

In January 2003, Margaret executed a document altering her distribution scheme. (Trial Exhibit 7, App. 850). She altered the specific bequests from the 2001 Will by:

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