### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

### NO. 15-2126

# IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF MARGARET E. WORKMAN, Deceased,

### DENNIS WORKMAN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

VS.

GARY WORKMAN, Individually and as Executor of the Estate of Margaret E. Workman,

Defendant-Appellee,

and

LAVERNE WORKMAN, CYNTHIA NOGGLE, RANDY NOGGLE, MINDY SHERWOOD, JASON WORKMAN, CHRISTINE THOMPSON, and JEFFREY WORKMAN,

Defendants.

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT FOR SCOTT COUNTY, IOWA
THE HONORABLE JOHN D. TELLEEN, JUDGE
SCOTT COUNTY CASE NO. ESPR074050

### **DEFENDANT-APPELLEE GARY WORKMAN'S FINAL BRIEF**

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

### **ARGUMENT**

### I. DENNIS HAS NOT SET FORTH ANY CLAIM OF REVERSIBLE ERROR.

### A. Preservation of Error.

A notice of appeal "shall specify the parties taking the appeal and the decree, judgment, order, or part thereof appealed from." Iowa R. App. P. 6.102(2)(a) (2015). The first issue is that Dennis's Notice of Appeal references that it was submitted "pursuant to Iowa Rule of Civil Procedure 1.264(3) . . . ." Rule 1.264(3) pertains to "[a]n order certifying or refusing to certify an action as a class action . . . ." Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.264(3) (2015). This case has nothing to do with a class action.

The second issue is that the Notice only states that it pertains to the "Judgment following Jury Verdict entered November 19, 2015 by the Honorable John Telleen." Despite the mandatory nature of Rule 6.102(2)(a), the Notice does not reference any appeal from the Order on Motion for Summary Judgment. Iowa R. App. P. 6.102(2)(a) (2015) ("shall specify . . . .") (emphasis added).

The third issue is that Rule 6.102(2)(a) further provides that "[t]he notice shall substantially comply with form 1 in rule 6.1401." Iowa R. App. P. 6.102(2)(a) (2015). Dennis's Notice does not resemble, or substantially comply with Form 1. *See* Iowa R. App. P. 6.1401, Form 1 (2015). Dennis's

Notice only references the November 19, 2015 Jury Verdict, and does not contain the language in Form 1 referencing not only the final order, but also referencing an appeal "from all adverse rulings and orders inhering therein." Iowa R. App. P. 6.1401, Form 1 (2015). For the foregoing reasons, Gary disputes that Dennis' Notice is sufficient with respect to preserving any claim of error pertaining to the Order on Motion for Summary Judgment.

### **B.** Standard and Scope of Review.

Assuming, *arguendo*, the Court finds that Dennis preserved error on this alleged issue, Gary agrees with Dennis that the standard of review on a motion for summary judgment is for correction of errors at law. *Whalen v. Connelly*, 593 N.W.2d 147, 152 (Iowa 1999). Gary does not know what the scope of review is, as Dennis's purported claim is confusing and the Order on Motion for Summary Judgment had no bearing on the eventual trial of the issue of undue influence.

### C. Argument.

Dennis's Statement of the Case starts with the false assertion that Dennis "filed a petition alleging that the Will offered into probate in this matter was invalid based on: (1) lack of testamentary capacity; (2) undue influence; and (3) confidential relationship." Dennis's Brief at p. 3. Neither Dennis's Petition nor Amended Petition contains any count alleging that

Margaret's 2007 Will or 2008 Codicil was invalid based on any alleged "confidential relationship." (App. 1-10) (App. 11-21). Additionally, Dennis has not cited any authority that a will or codicil can be invalidated based on an alleged confidential relationship.

Dennis posits that the first issue on appeal is whether "[t]he District Court erred in determining in its summary judgment ruling that the burden of proof did not shift to Gary Workman as a result of a confidential relationship and undue influence." Dennis's Brief at p. 19. Dennis literally appears to be claiming that Judge Darbyshire *erred by following Iowa law*. See Dennis's Brief at p. 21 (stating that "the issue presented on this appeal is whether this should continue to be the standard for cases . . . ."). Our appellate court system would be inundated by claims if every party could appeal a trial court decision solely because they wanted a change in the law. If Dennis wanted to change Iowa law he should first become an Iowa resident, and then write his legislator.

Dennis's claim that "The District Court *ruled* in its motion for summary judgment on the relationship between a confidential relationship and undue influence" is also misleading, as that issue was not before the Court. Dennis's Brief at p. 20 (emphasis added). The only "rulings" Judge Darbyshire made were on the only two issues before him, and he granted

Gary's Motion for Summary Judgment on the claim of lack of testamentary capacity, and denied Gary's Motion for Summary Judgment on the claim of undue influence. (App. 797-806).

Dennis next spent almost ten pages of his argument by copying block quotations from the Restatement (Third) of Property, Kansas, New Jersey, and other case law. See Dennis's Brief at pp. 21-30. These citations are entirely irrelevant to any issue in dispute. Dennis then makes numerous allegations without citation to the record,<sup>3</sup> as well as confusing, unsupported presumptions about juries and trials,<sup>4</sup> and outright misstatements of the law.<sup>5</sup>

Ultimately, Judge Darbyshire denied Gary's Motion on the issue of undue influence. (App. 797-806). The Order on Motion for Summary Judgment, and any discussion or dicta therein pertaining to undue influence in no way impacted the jury's consideration of Dennis's claims of undue influence at trial or prejudiced him in any manner whatsoever. This Court must deny Dennis's claim that "the District Court erred in determining in its summary judgment ruling that the burden of proof did not shift to Gary Workman as a result of a confidential relationship and undue influence".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Dennis's Brief at p. 34. <sup>4</sup> Dennis's Brief at pp. 34, 35.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Dennis's Brief at p. 35 (claiming that "the burden of proof requires that the jury find against a plaintiff if they are unable to determine where the truth lies").

# II. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT DENIED DENNIS'S ORAL MOTION TO AMEND THE PLEADINGS ON THE LAST DAY OF TRIAL.

#### A. Preservation of Error.

Dennis has preserved a claim of error on the issue of whether Judge Telleen abused his discretion when he denied Dennis's motion to amend the pleadings.

### B. Standard and Scope of Review.

Gary agrees with Dennis that the standard of review on the denial of a motion for leave to amend is for abuse of discretion. *In re Estate of Bearbower*, 426 N.W.2d 392, 394 (Iowa 1988). The scope of review is limited to Judge Telleen's decision to deny Dennis's oral motion for leave to amend to include claims that Gary exercised undue influence over Margaret when she executed her 1983 Will, 1985 Codicil, 1987 Will, 1995 Will, 1999 Will, 2001 Will, 2003 Codicil, and 2006 Codicil.

## C. Argument.

Dennis claims that the District Court erred when, on the third and final day of trial, it did not permit him to amend his pleadings to claim that Gary exercised undue influence over Margaret when she executed her eight prior estate planning documents. Iowa courts "are reluctant to find an abuse of discretion in a trial court ruling granting or denying a party leave to amend. This is true even though allowance of an amendment is the general

rule and denial the exception." In re Estate of Bearbower, 426 N.W.2d 392, 394 (Iowa 1988) (quoting Johnston v. Percy Const., Inc., 258 N.W.2d 366, Appellate courts "accord the district court 370-71 (Iowa 1977)). considerable discretion when ruling on [motions for leave to amend]," and "reverse only when a *clear* abuse of discretion is shown." Cargill Inc. v. Mitchell, No. 6-165/05-0993, 2006 Iowa App. LEXIS 435, 5-6 (Iowa Ct. App. Apr. 26, 2006) (subsequently reported at 720 N.W.2d 192 (Iowa Ct. App. 2006)) (emphasis added) (citing Bennett v. Redfield, 446 N.W.2d 467, 474-75 (Iowa 1989)); see also Alison-Kesley AG Ctr., Inc. v. Hildebrand, 485 N.W.2d 841, 845 (Iowa 1992). "If there is a solid legal basis supporting the ruling on a motion to amend, there is no abuse of discretion." Bearbower, 426 N.W.2d at 394. As even Dennis concedes, the decision whether to grant an amendment is "within the sound discretion of the trial court." Dennis's Brief at p. 36.

# 1. Dennis not only should have known, but clearly knew of the relevant testimony prior to trial.

Until it is successfully contested, an earlier will is presumed to be valid. *In re Will of Crissick*, 156 N.W. 415, 422 (Iowa 1916). A party may attempt to contest multiple wills in the same action. *See In re Estate of Klages*, 209 N.W.2d 110, 114 (Iowa 1973) (citing *In re Yahn's Estate*, 45 N.W.2d 702 (Wisc. 1951)). Neither in the *Swartzendruber* case Dennis cites

in his Brief, nor in any other case Dennis has cited, did the contestant attempt to amend *during trial* to challenge any prior will. *Swartzendruber v. Lamb*, 582 N.W.2d 171, 173 (Iowa 1998).

"[W]hen a movant seeks to amend a petition based on trial testimony the movant knew or should have known prior to trial, the amendment is more properly denied than one that might have been otherwise allowed earlier in the proceedings. Meincke v. Northwest Bank & Trust Co., 756 N.W.2d 223, 229 (Iowa 2008) (citing Alison-Kesley AG Ctr., Inc. v. Hildebrand, 485 N.W.2d 842, 846 (Iowa 1992)); Mora v. Saverei, 222 N.W.2d 417, 422-23 (Iowa 1974) (upholding denial of a motion to amend where testimony presented "no surprise" to moving party). In *Meincke*, the Iowa Supreme Court found that the plaintiff "knew, or should have known, the testimony that supported her fraud claim before trial because [the witness] offered similar testify during his deposition . . . " Id. at 429. The Court thus held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it denied the plaintiff's motion to amend during trial. *Id*.

In the Petition he filed June 4, 2013, Dennis explicitly acknowledged that "Upon information and belief, there have been many prior Last Will and Testament revisions and changes for the past approximately 25 or more years." (App. 4). Despite acknowledging this fact, Dennis only claimed that

"[o]n July 19, 2007 and at all times thereafter, [Margaret] was susceptible to undue influence, and that "t]he Last Will and Testament is the result of undue influence." (App. 5-6). Dennis also limited his claim for relief, requesting that "the alleged instrument be adjudged not to be the Last Will and Testament of Margaret E. Workman. . . . " (App. 6).

On December 6, 2013, the Court entered a Trial Scheduling Order scheduling a jury trial to commence on September 8, 2014. (App. 22 at ¶1). As part of the Trial Scheduling Order, pleadings closed 60 days before trial, and all motions were to be filed at least 60 days before trial. (App. 23-24 at ¶5, 9). The Iowa Rules of Civil Procedure also permit a party to amend a pleading. Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.402 (2015). If Dennis had discovered new information after receiving discovery or taking depositions, or even after the trial was previously continued at Dennis's request, he could have filed a motion to amend. He did not.

Dennis cannot claim he was surprised by any testimony or evidence at trial. *See Meincke v. Northwest Bank & Trust Co.*, 756 N.W.2d 223, 229 (Iowa 2008); *Mora v. Saverei*, 222 N.W.2d 417, 422-423 (Iowa 1974). Judge Telleen did not abuse his "considerable discretion" when he denied Dennis's motion to amend. *Cargill Inc. v. Mitchell*, No. 6-165/05-0993,

2006 Iowa App. LEXIS 435, 5-6 (Iowa Ct. App. Apr. 26, 2006) (subsequently reported at 720 N.W.2d 192 (Iowa Ct. App. 2006)).

- 2. The fact that the parties referenced Margaret's prior estate planning documents during trial is not sufficient to justify amendment.
  - i. Any alleged undue influence with respect to Margaret's prior estate planning documents was not tried by consent of the parties.

Iowa Rule of Civil Procedure 1.457 provides "[w]hen issues not raised by the pleadings are tried by express or implied consent of the parties, they shall be treated in all respects as if they had been raised in the pleadings." Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.457 (Iowa 2015). "The rule addresses issues which were not raised in the pleadings but were nonetheless tried by consent of the parties." *Cargill Inc. v. Mitchell*, No. 6-165/05-0993, 2006 Iowa App. LEXIS 435, 6 (Iowa Ct. App. Apr. 26, 2006) (subsequently reported at 720 N.W.2d 192 (Iowa Ct. App. 2006)).

It is undisputed that Gary has never expressly consented to trial of issues not raised in the pleadings. Even in his Brief, Dennis never claims that the parties impliedly consented to trial of Margaret's 1983-2006 estate planning documents. To the contrary, Gary explicitly objected when Dennis made his oral motion for leave to amend on the last day of the trial. (App. 451-57).

ii. Whether the parties "voluntarily offered evidence" is not the standard for a motion to amend a claim under Iowa law.

Instead of citing a Rule of Civil Procedure, Dennis claims that the test for amendment is "whether the parties voluntarily presented evidence concerning the testatrix's intent in drafting the various wills form 1983-2007." Dennis' Brief at pp. 36-37. The logical fallacy of this argument is self-evident – if a plaintiff could force a court to allow amendment during trial simply by presenting evidence on a legal claim it has never pled, courts would be faced with a slippery slope resulting in unfair surprise and prejudice to defendants. In support of his assertion, Dennis claims that "[w]here the parties voluntarily offer evidence on an issue the denial of an amendment to conform to such proof would be beyond fair discretion." Dennis's Brief at p. 36 (quoting *Laverty v. Hawkeye Security Ins. Co.*, 140 N.W.2d 83, 88 (Iowa 1966)).

First, the Iowa Supreme Court's discussion leading to this quotation in *Laverty* pertained to Rule 88 of the Iowa Rules of Civil Procedure, the predecessor to Rule 1.421. *Id.*; *Antolk v. McMahon*, 744 N.W.2d 82 (Iowa 2007). Rule 1.421 addresses defenses to a claim for relief, not attempts to amend to add additional claims. Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.421 (2015).

Second, as Dennis failed to mention, this quotation is immediately preceded by the qualification that "[w]hile the issues may not be substantially changed wide discretion is vested in the trial court." *Laverty*, 140 N.W.2d at 88. As discussed in subsection II(C)(3)(i), below, unlike *Laverty*, the issues in this case would have "substantially changed" if Dennis had been permitted to amend as he requested. Third, unlike the present case, the evidence in *Laverty* purportedly justifying amendment was uncontroverted. *Id.* at 88. Fourth, in *Laverty*, just as Gary is requesting this court do, the Supreme Court held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in ruling on the proposed amendment.

In the *Dulin* case Dennis cites: (1) the Iowa Supreme Court only mentions "leave to amend" in one place on the last page of the opinion; (2) the evidence was "uncontroverted"; and (3) the issue involved setoff and the evidence showed that the plaintiff could not prove any amounts due and owing. *Dulin v. Washington Nat'l Ins. Co.*, 135 N.W.2d 635, 638 (Iowa 1965). Similarly, the issue in the *Barnhouse* case Dennis cites also involved a claim for setoff "on uncontested facts." *Barnhouse v. Hawkeye State Bank*, 406 N.W.2d 181, 188 (Iowa 1987). Uncontested claims involving setoff—a defense which can undermine the plaintiff's ability to prove any amounts are due and owing—are readily distinguishable from attempting to introduce

entirely new disputed claims like challenging prior estate planning documents in a will contest.

iii. Dennis has not shown that the proposed amendment actually conformed to the alleged proof.

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